

# BEST PRACTICES IN UNIVERSAL SOCIAL, EMOTIONAL, AND BEHAVIORAL SCREENING:

#### AN IMPLEMENTATION GUIDE

#### Version 2.0

- Natalie Romer, Ph.D., nromer@wested.org, WestEd
- Nathaniel von der Embse, Ph.D., natev@usf.edu, University of South Florida
- Katie Eklund, Ph.D., katie.eklund@wisc.edu, University of Wisconsin-Madison
- Stephen Kilgus, Ph.D., skilgus@wisc.edu, University of Wisconsin-Madison
- Kelly Perales, LCSW, kelly.perales@midwestpbis.org.
   Midwest PBIS Network
- Joni Williams Splett, Ph.D., splett@coe.ufl.edu, University of Florida
- Shannon Suldo, Ph.D., suldo@usf.edu, University of South Florida
- David Wheeler, Ph.D., david.wheeler@fldoe.org, Florida
   Department of Education

Suggested citation: Romer, N., von der Embse, N., Eklund, K., Kilgus, S., Perales, K., Splett, J. W., Sudlo, S., Wheeler, D., (2020). Best Practices in Social, Emotional, and Behavioral Screening: An Implementation Guide.

Version 2.0. Retrieved from smhcollaborative.org/universalscreening











MIDWEST PBIS NETWORK

Authors are listed in alphabetical order starting with Eklund and order is not reflective of relative contributions. Natalie Romer was previously at the University of South Florida.

#### **ABSTRACT**

Universal social, emotional, and behavioral (SEB) screening is increasingly being recognized as a foundational component of a comprehensive, multi-tiered system of school-based supports. As schools strive to develop a systematic approach to meeting the SEB health of all students, often with limited resources and competing priorities, there is a need for responsive, efficient, and effective systems and data to improve outcomes. Universal SEB screening is one component of such a comprehensive approach and is increasingly being adopted by schools and districts across the country. The purpose of this guide is to summarize the current state of research and practice related to universal SEB screening and provide practical and defensible recommendations.

We are deeply grateful to the educators, researchers, school administrators, mental health professionals, and parents, who provided input and feedback reflected in this version of Best Practices in Universal Social, Emotional, and Behavioral Screening: An Implementation Guide. We also want to recognize the many champions and leaders advocating for and demonstrating the translation of SEB research to practice and policy. Through a collective approach we can inform and improve best practices and future directions for universal SEB screening improving valued outcomes for all students.

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

,	. INTRODUCTION	5
	Need for Universal Social, Emotional, and Behavioral Screening .	5
	Vision and Purpose	
	What Is Universal SEB Screening?	6
•	I. PROCEDURAL CONSIDERATIONS	
	Prerequisites to Screening	9
	Screening Approaches	9
	Choice of Informant	. 10
	Timing and Frequency of Screening Administration	
	Data Collection and Storage	.11
	Data Use	
	Connecting Screening Results to Intervention	. 12
	II. SELECTING A UNIVERSAL SEB SCREENING TOOL	
	Technical Adequacy	
	Usability and Feasibility	
	Contextual Appropriateness	
•	V. ETHICAL AND LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS FOR	
	V. ETHICAL AND LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS FOR UNIVERSAL SCREENING OF SOCIAL,	.1/
	EMOTIONAL, AND BEHAVIORAL RISK	
	Consent Procedures	
	Limits of Screening Data	. 17
	Sample State Level Guidance on Universal Screening	. 19
٩	/. CONCLUSION	20
	Appendix A: Resources	
	Appendix B: Implementation of Checklist and Planning Guide	. 22
	Appendix C.1: Sample Consent for Opt Out	. 24
	Appendix C.2: Sample Consent for Opt Out	. 25
	Appendix D: Frequently Asked Questions	. 26
	Appendix E: Guiding Questions	. 28
	References	. 29

## I. BEST PRACTICES IN UNIVERSAL SCREENING FOR SOCIAL, EMOTIONAL, AND BEHAVIORAL OUTCOMES: AN IMPLEMENTATION GUIDE

Schools are charged with supporting and teaching students so that they graduate ready to succeed in life. To ensure this long-term educational success, schools are increasingly using systematic approaches to improve student well-being. Multi-tiered frameworks are suited for proactive and integrated behavioral health service delivery focused on the social, emotional, and behavioral (SEB) needs of students. However, the effectiveness of a comprehensive, multi-tiered framework is dependent on the ability of schools to determine the SEB strengths and needs of their students early and to evaluate if students are responding to the SEB supports and intervention<sup>1</sup>.

Schools implementing a multi-tiered system of SEB supports face the challenge of commonly used approaches to identifying students who are at risk for SEB concerns (i.e., office discipline referral, suspensions, teacher referral, etc.) often being inefficient and reactive, resulting in significant delays in students accessing the help they need. When opportunities for schools to provide early and effective SEB intervention to students are missed, the risk of students experiencing negative outcomes increases<sup>2</sup>. In recognition of the significant limitations of reactive approaches to responding to students SEB needs, there has been an increase in schools implementing proactive, prevention-focused approaches, such as universal SEB screening for supporting the well-being of all students<sup>3</sup>. Universal SEB screening offers an evidenced-based and proactive method for monitoring universal (Tier 1) supports and facilitating early identification of those students who may be at-risk for significant SEB problems<sup>4, 5</sup>. Unfortunately, there is limited guidance regarding how to implement universal SEB screening<sup>6</sup>. Instead, schools and districts are often left to piece together procedural, ethical, and legal information relevant to SEB screening. This can lead to ineffective implementation and/or abandoning SEB screening altogether. School districts need information regarding best practices for implementing universal SEB screening so their students can realize the benefits of a comprehensive SEB support system.

The purpose of this implementation guide is to provide technical assistance to school districts who are considering, preparing for, or are in the early stages of implementing SEB screening. This guide provides an overview of ethical, practical, and technical issues

for leadership teams to consider above and beyond simply selecting a universal SEB screening measure. Screening occurs within schools where teams facilitate implementation of SEB screening and use the data for decision making. It is at the district level, however, where decisions need to be made in order to support the successful implementation of universal screening at the school level. We use the term leadership team broadly to refer to teams leading implementation of SEB screening at the school, district, and state levels. This guide is intended to be a resource focused on this small but critical component of a larger systems change process informed by the vision, values, and strengths of the school community, specifically students and families.

## NEED FOR UNIVERSAL SOCIAL, EMOTIONAL, AND BEHAVIORAL SCREENING

In the United States, approximately one in five youth experience SEB problems severe enough to meet diagnostic criteria for a psychological disorder<sup>7</sup>. The term psychological disorder refers to research that specifically uses criteria for diagnoses aligned with the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders-5 published by the American Psychiatric Association (2013). For example, anxiety disorders are the most frequently identified disorder in children, followed by behavior disorders, mood disorders, and substance use disorders<sup>8</sup> Despite the seriousness of untreated psychological problems, less than half of children and adolescents with a diagnosable disorder access behavioral health services9, <sup>10</sup>. This has left schools to function as the de facto setting for addressing the unmet mental health needs of students and their families, but without the requisite systems that ensure coordinated, effective intervention<sup>11, 12</sup>. Fortunately, increased emphasis on implementation science<sup>13, 14, 15</sup>, school mental health<sup>16, 17, 18</sup>, and a mounting evidencebase supporting the effectiveness of universal (Tier 1) interventions<sup>19, 20</sup> underscore that schools are well-suited for systemic programming aimed at both promoting SEB competencies and preventing the staggering rates of SEB problems. This aim may be accomplished by: (1) creating positive learning environments that support mental health, (2) teaching students SEB competencies, and (3) providing early intervention to those students in need<sup>21, 22, 23</sup>. Multi-tiered models of intervention provide an implementation framework for an integrated continuum

of SEB supports<sup>24, 25, 26, 27</sup> and data that are valid indicators of SEB competence and risk<sup>28, 29, 30</sup>. Maximizing opportunities for early intervention and prevention before poor outcomes begin to transpire requires, however, that identification of SEB problems occurs early<sup>31, 32, 33</sup>.

Universal SEB screening provides a means for early identification of those students who may be at-risk of developing SEB problems and may benefit from early intervention; screening can also help to determine the response of all students to universal Tier 1 practices<sup>34</sup>. As districts and schools commit to implementing a system for universal SEB screening, they are faced with a myriad of logistical considerations such as privacy, the frequency of screening, how best to use data to improve intervention selection, and need for parental support and informed consent 35, 36. There are a number of excellent resources that have been developed to support various components of universal SEB screening implementation in schools (see Appendix A). This guide specifically contributes to the need for a current and comprehensive resource that synthesizes research and policy to support best practices in implementing SEB screening within schools.

#### VISION AND PURPOSE

The purpose of this guide is to provide leadership teams with information based on the current state of research, policy, and legal and ethical considerations related to SEB screening. With the increasing uptake of universal SEB screening practices as part of comprehensive school SEB programming<sup>37</sup> and state and federal initiatives to support these efforts<sup>38</sup>, implementers need access to information about the critical features and essential practices to effectively implement. As such, this document was conceptualized based on our vision to:

"support the implementation of school-based universal screening practices informed by research and/or best practice to improve social, emotional, and behavioral health and related outcomes valued by students, families, and educators within a comprehensive multi-tiered system of support."

The information summarized in this guide was developed using a formative process with three phases. First, we reviewed and summarized the currently available research literature. Second, we sought feedback from key stakeholders such as parents, school and state leaders, and technical assistance providers. And third, we sought the advisement of researchers, experts, and national organizations. We anticipate, and hope, there will be a need to update and expand this guide as the collective knowledge, experience, and research supporting SEB screening evolves.

This approach reflects our belief that promoting SEB wellness for all first and foremost takes a village, but also needs to be informed by research. We are optimistic that a shared vision for safe and nurturing school communities that support the development of critical SEB skills, build on strengths and assets, and promote mental health for all will continue to bridge the gap between research, policy, and practice, including SEB screening. If school mental health is to be valued by students and families and viewed as foundational to students' educational experience, we as implementers, researchers, and policy makers need to practice humility and better engage students and families to inform our work and hold us accountable.

The potential of universal SEB screening when implemented ethically and with integrity to help students is often misunderstood. This implementation guide is intended to provide this implementation guide is to provide clarity to the evolving practice of SEB screening based on the current state of research, the consensus of stakeholders, as well as ethical, legal, and practical considerations for implementing a universal SEB screening system matched to the strengths and needs of students, families, and school communities.

#### WHAT IS UNIVERSAL SEB SCREENING?

Best practice and federal education policy (e.g., Every Student Succeeds Act, 2015<sup>39</sup>) calls for schools to routinely monitor all students' progress in a variety of domains, including academic skills, physical health, and mental health (i.e., SEB outcomes). This document pertains to screening in the latter domain. Throughout



MENTAL HEALTH						
SEB PROBLEMS			SEB WELL-BEING AND COMPETENCIES			
INTERNALIZING	EXTERNALIZING		LIFE SATISFACTION		STRONG SOCIAL RELATIONSHIPS	
Trauma, Environmental stressors  Thinking errors, Withdrawal, Negative affect	Unsafe settings, Inconsistent routines, Low expectations	Rule violations, Substance use	Basic needs are met; Opportunities matched to values and interests	Gratitude, Empathy, Persistence, Optimism, Strengths use	Healthy interactions (high support, minimal bullying); Inclusive settings	Social and emotional skills
RISK FACTORS			PROMOTIVE AND PROTECTIVE FACTORS			
Example Intervention Targets for Promoting Complete Mental Health; Adapted from Suldo & Romer, 2016.						

this document, we use the term SEB to align with the outcomes driven approach and language that may be most familiar to educators<sup>40</sup>. Before we proceed, however, we will describe how SEB indicators relate to contemporary understanding of mental health as being more than simply the absence of psychological problems (i.e., symptoms associated with diagnoses). As depicted in the figure above, a growing body of research illustrates that the absence of psychological problems does not infer wellness or the presence of positive emotional states (e.g., happiness). Instead, there are environmental and student-level factors associated with psychological problems, and a distinct set of assets, competencies, and mindsets that foster well-being and associated academic benefits. As such, a status of complete mental health is indicated when an individual is experiencing low levels of psychological problems and high levels of

well-being 41.

With respect to psychological problems, educators can monitor the presence of risk factors such as negative thinking patterns (e.g., cognitive errors, low selfefficacy), peer victimization, social skill deficits, and poor coping strategies; or directly assess current symptoms of SEB problems. Screening only for psychological problems, however, can lead to undue focus on student weaknesses, risk factors, and/or emphasize problem severity as determining the need for intervention<sup>42</sup>. To counter the historically deficit-based approaches in psychology, assessment of students' SEB strengths directs attention to student competencies, assets, and positive emotions that are also highly relevant to a complete mental health status. With respect to well-being, educators can monitor for the presence of resilience factors such as coping skills, perceived social support from peers and teachers, positive thinking patterns (e.g., hope, optimism, gratitude, competence beliefs), and strong family, educator and peer relationships; or directly assess current levels of life satisfaction and happiness. Identifying problems early

coupled with monitoring strengths and competencies is aligned with the instructional focus of schools, including explicitly teaching SEB skills and, therefore, can provide valuable information to inform intervention. A strength-based approach to assessing well-being also provides opportunities to build on the assets and resources of the school community and may be more socially acceptable<sup>43</sup>.

In short, similar to comprehensive school-based SEB programming, SEB screening involves assessment of early signs of psychological problems, as well as the presence of resilience factors and indicators of wellbeing. Assessing both psychological problems and well-being permits identification of students most in need of intervention because these students are experiencing SEB problems and have limited skills, assets, and supports to effectively manage and cope. Further, assessing for complete mental health affords the opportunity for school teams to not only evaluate student SEB risk, but also SEB skills and assets aligned with universal, Tier 1 programming. Screening students' SEB health encompasses assessment of (a) social risk or resilience factors, (b) emotional problems or wellbeing, and (c) behavioral problems. SEB screening differs from other assessments of attitudes and feelings such as within school climate surveys in that SEB screening focuses on an individual student's level of SEB health. In contrast, school climate surveys typically yield data that are aggregated across groups to indicate a given school's safety and SEB health as perceived by a variety of stakeholders (student, staff, parents) and can provide another source of important data especially in regard to environmental and contextual factors.

Over a decade ago, Weist and colleagues (2007, p.53) noted, "Screening, as a part of a coordinated and comprehensive school mental health program, complements the mission of schools, identifies youth in need, links them to effective services, and contributes to positive educational outcomes valued by families,

#### I. BEST PRACTICES IN UNIVERSAL SOCIAL, EMOTIONAL, AND BEHAVIORAL SCREENING: AN IMPLEMENTATION GUIDE

schools, and communities."44. Universal SEB screening is one essential process within a comprehensive support system and shall be aligned with the larger vision and mission of the school community. Universal screening can vary in scope and function. Thus, the following table summarizes the key features through examples and non-examples of a systematic, universal SEB screening process that is described throughout the remainder of this document.

Universal SEB screening is a process that relies on sound procedures for implementing evidence-based

screeners to ensure school teams access good data to inform decisions within a system aiming to improve mental wellness, prevent SEB problems, and ensure all students access a continuum of SEB supports. The sections of this guide that follow provide information based on the current state of evolving research and practice that inform implementation of a SEB screening system, including selecting a SEB screener, and ethical and legal considerations. At the end of the guide, we include Appendices with information and resources to help teams facilitate implementation of a universal SEB screening system.

#### **KEY FEATURES OF UNIVERSAL SEB SCREENING**

#### **EXAMPLES**

Increase liklihood of SEB screening impacting positive outcomes

- Monitors SEB health (i.e., high levels of SEB wellbeing and low levels of SEB problems)
- Supported and informed by youth and family
- Used in conjunction with other student data to increase accuracy of decisions
- Assumes a clearly defined population such as all students within a school
- Aligned with universal programing to meet the needs of all students within the defined population
- Informs continuous problem solving (i.e., problem identification, analysis, intervention planning and evaluation) for improved SEB outcomes across continuum of supports
- Identifies students who may benefit from early SEB intervention
- Uses instruments that are psychometrically defensible and tested with populations similar to the school population
- Examines SEB constructs aligned with the vision, mission, and priorities of school mental health programming
- Individuals with mental health expertise (i.e., assessment, intervention, and relevant ethical and legal considerations) inform the SEB screening implementation and intervention decision-making processes
- Ongoing consultation with legal and data system administrators to ensure compliance with legal mandates and policies
- Data systems and follow-up procedures established and communicated prior to collecting SEB screening data

#### **NON-EXAMPLES**

Increase likelihood of SEB screening resulting in negative impact or causing harm

- Screens for symptoms of a specific diagnosis or use of assessments developed for diagnostic purposes
- Assesses for suicide or self-harm only using single item
- Purpose is not well defined and/or communicated to youth, families, staff, and other stakeholders
- Conducted using selected items or measures without sufficient evidence
- Data collected only for some students but not others
- Limited or no follow-up following data collection
- Used to make high-stakes (e.g., change in placement) or diagnostic decisions
- Uses teacher, parent, or student nomination data in isolation
- Review of academic and behavioral data only
- Parents and youth are not well informed;
   appropriate consent and assent is not obtained
- Mandated rather than selected based on the strengths and needs of the population and matched to the priorities and vision of the school community

here are many factors to consider when school districts decide to implement a universal SEB screening system. Specifically, this section addresses critical processes that leadership teams should consider prior to implementation, as well as multiple approaches that schools may choose, such as timing and frequency of screening, informant choices, data collection and storage decisions, and data use. We focus on information specific to universal SEB screening that is intended to guide leadership teams implementing or preparing to implement a comprehensive, multi-tiered SEB support system. Leadership teams include, at minimum, appropriate representation from administration, teachers, parents, and behavioral/mental health expertise, and are planful in supporting ongoing parent and youth involvement and leadership<sup>45</sup>. Several resources (Implementation Checklist and Planning Guide, Frequently Asked Questions and Guiding Questions for Developing a Protocol for Using SEB Screening Data to Inform Decisions) mentioned in this section are available in the Appendices.

#### PREREQUISITES TO SCREENING

Leadership teams are encouraged to identify specific objectives prior to engaging in SEB universal screening procedures, especially as they relate to the broader vision and mission of a comprehensive, multitiered system. This includes identifying potential SEB screening objectives, how to establish buy-in from and inform key stakeholders (e.g., school leaders, teachers, students, family members; see sample Frequently Asked Questions in Appendix D), and how data will be used. For example, a primary objective may be identifying individual students who require additional services for SEB concerns. A secondary objective might include evaluating the number of students who are identified as at-risk in a specific classroom, grade, or school. When schools elect to monitor the number of students who are identified as at-risk, these data can then be used to consider how to best allocate school resources to support children with identified SEB concerns. Through repeated administration of a SEB screener school teams are able to self-monitor their prevention and intervention efforts. School teams may elect to engage in schoolwide screening without identifying specific students. In these instances, screening data can provide a rationale to adopt and implement SEB supports and services<sup>46</sup>. A school's readiness and the rationale for implementing a universal SEB screener may vary initially but is refined through a process of continuous improvement. In this document we consider a fully implemented SEB screening system to include valid and reliable data for at least 90% of the target (universal) population that is collected at least two times per year using a psychometrically defensible SEB screener that identifies strengths and weaknesses, and the data are utilized to inform decisions that impact how educators improve SEB interventions and practices .

#### SCREENING APPROACHES

There are multiple approaches for engaging in universal screening practices, including the use of multiple gating procedures, brief behavior rating scales, and reliance on extant behavior data (e.g., office discipline referrals, attendance data) to identify which students might be at risk for SEB concerns. Multiple gating procedures like the Systematic Screening for Behavior Disorders<sup>47</sup> start with asking teachers to list and rank students suspected of demonstrating internalizing or externalizing behaviors. Additional data are then collected on the top three students in each category in each classroom, including conducting classroom observations and asking teachers to complete behavior rating scales, in order to guide effective intervention matching. This seminal approach to identification aligns closely with a three-tiered service delivery framework but can take additional time to work through each step of the screening process. The nomination of six students by a teacher can also potentially lead to the over- or under-identification of students who have actual SEB concerns<sup>48</sup> Thus, when engaging in universal SEB screening practices, most schools have moved towards using brief behavior rating scales49.

Research over the last two decades has led to the development of screening measures that target a broad variety of SEB constructs, including externalizing and internalizing behaviors and social-emotional

competencies (e.g., responsible decision making, cooperation with peers) and academic enablers (e.g., academic engagement, motivation to learn)<sup>50</sup>. Aligned with the contemporary conceptualization of mental health described earlier, a multiple-measures approach to assessment considers both areas of SEB strengths. as well as areas of concern. Taken together, these measures not only identify deficits in students' SEB functioning, but also highlight strengths that could be used to help students overcome concerns<sup>51</sup>. Other measures focus exclusively on a deficit model of student SEB health, aiming to identify where concerns may be evident. Comparatively, strengths-based screeners assess components of student wellness, such as raters' perceptions of student assets, competencies, or strengths<sup>52</sup>. Clearly there are multiple options for schools to choose from when selecting a SEB screener. Thus, it is critically important that teams carefully consider what information they are seeking to inform interventions and what SEB outcomes they are striving to impact.

In addition to assessing a wide range of behaviors and /or factors, SEB screeners vary in their technical adequacy (reliability, validity), the informant who is selected to provide information (e.g., parent, teacher, student), as well as their target population (e.g., student age range). Given such variability, schools are encouraged to select measure/s that align with their defined objectives, as well as meets the aforementioned criteria.

#### CHOICE OF INFORMANT

School teams need to consider which informant. including teachers, parents and/or students, can provide the most relevant and valuable data to inform evidencebased intervention. Recent research has demonstrated that student self-report, even in early grades, can contribute unique and valuable information that is distinct from teacher ratings<sup>53</sup>. However, teachers are the most commonly used informant within universal screening practices<sup>54</sup>. Given their knowledge of normative student behavior and the extensive amount of time they spend with students, teachers can provide valuable information regarding the SEB functioning of their students. Elementary classroom teachers are especially informative, given that students in preschool through Grade 5 spend the majority of their school day in one classroom. This time allows teachers the opportunity to observe students across a variety of settings and in response to multiple academic and social demands. To increase accuracy and consistency of ratings amongst teachers, however, we recommend that schools provide professional development and training to teachers prior to rating their students <sup>55</sup>. Parents also provide valuable

insights into the SEB functioning of their own children. This is especially true with younger children (e.g., early childhood or elementary-aged students), as parents can assess their child's behavior and emotions across various contexts and have unique insight to values and norms outside of school.

As students get older, they become more accurate informants of their own behavior and can reliably assess their own functioning<sup>56</sup>. If schools are electing to use measures that assess a student's SEB health, self-report can provide valuable information to guide subsequent intervention planning and increase overall student engagement into the intervention system<sup>57</sup>. Relatedly, student behaviors, such as anxiety or depression, may be easier for students to rate given the largely internalized nature of these concerns. As such, student self-report data at the secondary level may be an important consideration, given the increased prevalence of SEB concerns in middle and high school.

Regardless of the type of informant, school teams need to consider how to support the individuals completing the SEB screener. School teams should make the screening process as easy and accessible as possible and be available to address any concerns or questions. We emphasize the importance of family and youth voice and staff input to inform implementation of a SEB support system. Strategies for increasing SEB awareness, ongoing training, and other approaches to promoting SEB knowledge can help school teams secure buy-in and trust as it relates to the larger SEB support system, including SEB screening.

## TIMING AND FREQUENCY OF SCREENING ADMINISTRATION

Once objectives for SEB screening have been established, school teams are encouraged to consider not only what grade levels might be appropriate for screening, but also when during the school year screening measures should be administered and how to integrate SEB screening with other district data collection systems. When teachers are completing universal screening measures, it is important to allow sufficient time at the beginning of the year for teachers to get to know their students before completing screening measures (e.g., at least one month<sup>58</sup>). Screening too early in the school year could lead to the over- or underidentification of children at-risk for SEB concerns due to the limited information available to teachers regarding student functioning. Within early childhood or elementary school settings, the youngest learners often need more time to adjust to school than older students<sup>59</sup>.

Providing sufficient time for teachers to observe students in multiple contexts can allow for a more in-depth understanding of students' strengths and concerns, likely leading to more accurate identification of any SEB concerns.

Although many schools administer academic screening measures three times a year, there is no consensus regarding how many times a year to administer a universal SEB screening measure. One study demonstrated the benefits of screening two or three times a year as new students were identified during each administration<sup>60</sup>; however, other studies involved schools only administering a SEB screener once or twice a year to initially evaluate their screening procedures and ensure student data could be used to quickly and efficiently connect students to interventions<sup>61</sup>. Administering a screener at least twice a year is, however, necessary for evaluating the impact of Tier 1 intervention. Despite administering SEB screening multiple times a year requiring additional time and resources, it can increase student access to SEB interventions when necessary and, thereby, improve outcomes and save resources in the long term.

#### DATA COLLECTION AND STORAGE

Leadership teams planning to conduct universal SEB screening will need to develop procedures for how screening data will be collected, stored, and used. The cost, privacy, accessibility, linkage with other existing data systems, and validity of data collected are all important considerations when developing a system for SEB data collection and storage. Many SEB screening tools are part of larger electronic data platforms and can often be linked to other student data (e.g., attendance, discipline, grades, and test scores) informing databased decision making. Some platforms cost money while others can be developed for minimal cost with the support of information technology experts using tools, such as Microsoft Excel spreadsheets hosted on private, district-approved networks.

**Data privacy.** Whichever system is most compatible with district needs and resources, it is critical the system maintain adequate privacy controls to limit access to sensitive student data consistent with educational policy and law. For example, the federal Family

Educational Rights and Privacy Act of 1974 only allows access to student data such as SEB screening scores and results to those school officials with a legitimate educational interest<sup>62</sup>. Schools must ensure their system for collecting, storing, and using SEB screening data protects this right to privacy no matter if they choose to purchase a screening tool with a well-developed electronic format or work with IT to develop a low-cost, locally developed alternative.

Data access. Accessibility is also an important consideration when planning how SEB screening data will be collected, stored, and used by school teams. The system developed must facilitate prompt analysis of results at multiple levels (i.e., student, classroom, grade, school, and district) and be easily integrated with other district data collection systems. As described previously, SEB screening provides another data point for schools to more systematically identify and meet student needs. Data access for school team members should be simple while also allowing for integrated data from other sources including student well-being and multiple levels of intervention (e.g., school-wide, grade-level, classroom, and student).

Data quality. School teams develop data collection and storage procedures that ensure the validity and accuracy of SEB screening scores. This requires schools to develop timelines for data collection that include adequate opportunities to provide professional development to staff and training to students. Professional development should focus on the areas to be screened, the value of SEB screening data within a comprehensive, multitiered system and how after SEB screening data has been collected, data are analyzed, communicated, and used to inform intervention decisions. SEB screening scores that are hastily collected under time constraints, administrative pressure, or other external challenges may lead to missing and/or invalid data with little use for decision-making purposes<sup>63, 64</sup>. Once data are collected, it is important to check for data quality, including potentially removing invalid data (e.g., fake or random response patterns), identifying duplicate responses, and examining missing data trends. The validity and accuracy of outliers should also be considered by school teams in relation to other indicators of the student's mental health to ensure reliable interpretation. For example, if data are missing from an entire grade level, classroom, or group

RESEARCH OVER THE LAST TWO DECADES HAS LED TO THE DEVELOPMENT OF SCREENING MEASURES THAT TARGET A BROAD VARIETY OF SEB CONSTRUCTS, INCLUDING EXTERNALIZING AND INTERNALIZING BEHAVIORS AND SOCIALEMOTIONAL COMPETENCIES



of students with an identifiable similarity (e.g., last names ending R to Z), there may be an administration or storage issue that needs to be resolved to ensure the data are valid. Similarly, extremely high or low scores may be indicative of a student completing a self-report form by simply endorsing the highest or lowest rating for every item.

#### **DATA USE**

Finally, as part of preparing for administration of a SEB screener, leadership teams develop a protocol for how SEB screening data will be used to identify and meet student needs (see Appendix E for guiding questions). This may include procedures for sharing results with key stakeholders and using results to determine how to best allocate interventions. Notably, while planning how to share and use results, school teams need to ensure the protocols are feasible to implement and there is sufficient time allocated to complete all steps of the SEB screening process.

Sharing results with key stakeholders. A key consideration in universal screening procedures includes sharing group- and potentially student-level results with key stakeholders in a timely manner. This may include parents, teachers, students, and/or district leaders. Aggregate results across groups of students (e.g., grade level, school, demographic characteristics) can be shared with all school staff, relevant district administrators, parent associations, and in newsletters to let stakeholders know how SEB screening is informing interventions and supports to improve student outcomes. Results can also be compared to current and previous SEB screening data or other data sources to demonstrate potential changes over time. Sharing results can help schools and districts leverage student, parent, and community support, as well as funding opportunities for securing additional resources. On the other hand, school teams may need to exhibit caution when presenting data to stakeholders not familiar with SEB screening to prevent misinterpretation of results (e.g., diagnosis based upon screening at-risk).

### CONNECTING SCREENING RESULTS TO INTERVENTION

Protocols for using SEB screening data to inform decisions will vary depending on the identified purpose of SEB screening, context, and resources. For examples, the protocol may include setting a threshold for how many students can be supported given available resources, SEB supports for all students, and/or a systematic process for determining who will receive

additional supports and the referral process for such supports<sup>65</sup>. Protocols for using SEB screening results, like other school-wide data, typically focus on the school, grade-level, classroom, and student level as well different sub-groups (e.g., gender, ethnicity, IEP status, etc.) and articulate how screening results (e.g., total scores, subscale scores) and extant data (e.g., office discipline referrals, attendance) will be used to guide the development of evidence-based interventions. Protocols include specific timepoints during the year as to when data will be reviewed, as well as procedures and criteria for decision-making and timely follow-up to link students to additional intervention or assessment.

What data to use. Protocols specify (a) what SEB screening scores will be used, (b) what other indicators should also be considered, and (c) the levels at which results should be reviewed for intervention planning. First, most SEB screening tools provide results as a general score of risk and/or in more specific domains of functioning (e.g., internalizing behaviors, social skills, prosocial behaviors, peer problems). School teams need to determine if they will focus primarily on a total behavior risk score and/or if subscale scores will be used, also considering cut-off scores that identify students at risk<sup>66</sup>. Teams also need to consider whether or not SEB screening results alone will be used to place students in intervention, or if other data (e.g., attendance, discipline, grades) and/or additional follow up (e.g., teacher or student interview, classroom observation) will be needed. It is best practice to consider multiple sources of data when identifying students in need of SEB intervention, but schools should consider additional steps cautiously<sup>67</sup>. Additional data collection should be used to verify need and plan interventions but should not be so burdensome that it unnecessarily delays the rate at which students are matched to and receive intervention. It should also not be used to make it unnecessarily difficult for students to be identified as at-risk, given the potential for this to increase the number of false negative screening decisions.

As part of the planning process, schools also consider how results can be used at multiple levels. This includes school-wide, grade-, classroom-, and individual student-level data. At the school-wide level, teams can review results to determine if school goals are being met, review progress from year to year, and consider how results align with other performance indicators (e.g., discipline, attendance, state test scores). Grade- and classroom-level results can be considered to identify any groups of students or teachers in need of additional support, including intervention and ongoing professional development. For example, results may demonstrate

that some grades need additional Tier 1 supports or some teachers may need additional instructional and classroom management coaching. Additionally, results should be considered for groups of students with similar risk areas. For example, schools may review all students with high risk scores for internalizing problems and create grade-level intervention groups.

When to use data. In addition to what data will be reviewed, protocols should specify when data reviews and follow-up will take place. SEB screening can be embedded into a school team's assessment schedule that specifies when the SEB screening will occur, when results will be available for teachers and school teams to use for decision-making, and when and how results will be shared with students, families, and other stakeholders. Detailed planning at the beginning of the school year is often necessary to ensure sufficient time is allocated throughout the school year to fully implement the SEB screening process.

How to use data. Finally, a protocol specifying what data to use is only beneficial to students if school teams use the protocol to problem solve and progress monitor intervention implementation and outcomes, and procedures for communicating with parents. When results suggest high risk for SEB concerns, parents should be notified of next steps for matching students to a continuum of interventions based on need. Protocols specify cut scores at which parents will be notified, as well as procedures for notification, including who will make contact, how, and what information will be shared. School teams need to consider how to provide resources with descriptions of problem behaviors indicated and strategies for at home and school.

Undoubtedly, SEB screening will identify students already receiving intervention; thus, results of SEB screening should be shared with parents and considered within already existing relationships and supports. For example, SEB screening data can provide important information about an individual or group of students relative to other students in the school. Students with disabilities are also at increased risk of SEB concerns and, thus, more likely to have high risk scores on SEB screening tools<sup>68</sup>. High risk scores for students receiving special education services could be shared by the student's case manager with the parent and considered

by the student's IEP team to determine if additional services are needed. SEB screening data also provide valuable information about the SEB health of the school as a whole to help school teams evaluate and problem solve across a continuum of SEB supports.

As school teams plan for SEB screening, they use their available data about student needs and map of all available intervention strategies and programs at each Tier to establish decision rules. There is a dearth of research on how to combine SEB screening data with other data reviewed by school teams, but best practice for SEB assessment emphasizes the importance of multisource, multi-informant, and multi-method approaches<sup>69</sup>. Therefore, SEB screening scores are considered with other indicators of student well-being (e.g., discipline, attendance). Decision rules specify criteria for entry into each intervention listed. For example, entry criteria for an anger control group counseling program may include emerging risk scores on a SEB screener for externalizing problems and/or multiple aggression-related discipline incidents<sup>70</sup>. Once, a school team determines a protocol for matching students to interventions and monitoring progress, it is critical to also monitor implementation of SEB screening procedures and protocols to ensure continuous improvement of the larger SEB screening system. It is not unusual for school teams to develop or adapt tools such as lists or Excel files to facilitate implementation of their protocol for decision making across their continuum of SFB interventions.

In addition to developing tools and protocols for data-based decision making across Tiers, school teams monitor the effectiveness of the SEB screening system as a whole by answering questions such as, are all students with scores at or above the cutoffs receiving interventions that match their needs? Are interventions available to meet all students' identified needs? How much time is lapsing between screening and students receiving interventions to match needs? How can that time be reduced? And, most importantly, are student outcomes for students accessing intervention improving? Answering these questions regularly is important for ensuring the effort and resources used to collect, store, protect, and analyze the SEB screening data result in improved school and student outcomes.

THE SYSTEM DEVELOPED MUST FACILITATE PROMPT ANALYSIS OF RESULTS AT MULTIPLE LEVELS AND BE EASILY INTEGRATED WITH OTHER DISTRICT DATA COLLECTION SYSTEMS



## III. SELECTING A UNIVERSAL SEB SCREENING TOOL



o single universal screening tool will be appropriate for all schools—states are encouraged to allow flexibility for school districts to select technically adequate tool/s that specifically addresses the unique needs of the district and population. The extent to which a tool/s is appropriate for a given school will be dependent upon a number of factors. It is recommended that school teams consider each of the following three factors in determining which screener is most aligned with their context and need<sup>71</sup>.

#### TECHNICAL ADEQUACY

First, leadership teams should consider the extent to which a universal screener is technically adequate. Technically adequate screeners are supported by multiple forms of psychometric evidence. Reliability evidence speaks to the consistency of screener scores across items within a measure (internal consistency), across subsequent administrations (test-retest), and across informant ratings (inter-rater). Although reliability of scores should always be expected, the consistency of scores can be reduced when (a) student behavior changes in response to intervention, thereby tempering test-retest reliability; or (b) behavior is meaningfully different across settings (e.g., home and school, two different classrooms), thereby tempering inter-rater reliability. Thus, expectations for screener reliability should be considered relative to measures used for other purposes (e.g., classification and diagnosis). Validity evidence speaks to the defensibility of a measure as an indicator of its intended construct (e.g., internalizing problems). Research should yield evidence of a screener's capacity to predict (a) measures of the same or similar construct, as well as (b) ecologically valid variables corresponding to socialemotional, behavioral, and academic success within school and beyond. Studies should also demonstrate consequential validity, or the capacity of a screener to promote positive intervention outcomes<sup>72</sup>.

Diagnostic accuracy evidence is arguably the most important for a screener, indicating the reliability with which a measure differentiates between truly at risk and not at risk<sup>73</sup>. The most prominent indicators

of diagnostic accuracy are sensitivity, or a screener's capacity to identify at-risk students, and specificity, or a screener's capacity to rule out not at-risk students. A final and particularly prominent form of psychometric evidence can be subsumed under the category of test fairness. A fair test performs similarly across various student subgroups, including those defined by gender, race/ethnicity, language, geographic region, and sexual orientation. Test fairness can be evaluated through a range of analyses. Differential item functioning and measurement invariance analyses speak to fairness in the interpretation of scores across groups<sup>74</sup>. Evaluations of decisional disproportionality speak to the consequences of screener use and whether risk determinations are more or less likely for certain subgroups of students<sup>75</sup>.

#### USABILITY AND FEASIBILITY

Next, leadership teams need to consider the extent to which a screening tool possesses the requisite usability and feasibility<sup>76</sup>. Usability is defined as the extent to which users can easily access and understand a screener and its results. Though a screener might yield highly defensible data, it can only promote positive outcomes if it is readily available, its results are immediately accessible, and educators can comprehend the findings and what they mean for student needs. For example, tools without online scoring software typically require an individual to manually enter all of the screening data, as well as create individual reports. An often overlooked component of usability is the need for teacher training and the availability of training protocols; research has demonstrated the importance of training raters (i.e., teachers) to increase the predictive power of the screener<sup>77</sup>. Feasibility represents the extent to which screening data can be collected, analyzed, interpreted, and used within the constraints of the educational environment. For a screener to be not only adopted but sustained over time, its use must not require a prohibitive amount of time, effort, or educational resources. For example, it is recommended that a universal screener is less than 25 items in total and ideally less than 20 items. Each additional item, while relatively quick to complete, is compounded across a class(es) of students and 2-3 times throughout the

#### III. SELECTING A UNIVERSAL SEB SCREENING TOOL

school year thus potentially leading to a substantial increase in overall resources needed to complete the tool.

Usability and feasibility are both important because they have implications for screener acceptability. Teachers are more likely to accept a screener if (a) they feel data collection will not take too much time away from other core activities (e.g., academic instruction and assessment); and (b) screening data are available to them quickly and in a manner that supports their understanding of the classroom. School staff responsible for coordinating data collection and analysis (e.g., administrators, school psychologists, counselors) are more likely to accept a screener if they

feel resulting data and reports provide information that supports decision making at all tiers of their multi-tiered framework. School teams are cautioned against selecting a screener solely based on cost given that many freely accessible instruments lack technical adequacy (can lead to incorrect decisions with potential negative implications for students) and/or require substantial personnel time to score the screeners and create actionable screening reports. Mitigating these limitations (i.e., evaluating the validity of the free measure and/or developing a scoring system) can itself be costly.

## KEY CONSIDERATIONS FOR DEVELOPING SEB SCREENING PROCEDURES

- Identify specific objectives for SEB screening (e.g., identification of individual students who may be in need additional SEB supports and/or monitoring the SEB health of all students (i.e., effectiveness of Tier 1 SEB supports).
- Identify the SEB outcomes (e.g., risk for internalizing problems) to be targeted for intervention.
- Select a technically adequate screening tool aligned with objectives for SEB screening (see next section).
- Determine what grade level(s) to screen and when (i.e., typically at least twice annually and at least a
  month into school).
- Identify informant in consideration of screening objectives, targeted population, time, and resources.
- Establish training and professional development needs to support completion of the screener and adherence to the established procedures for SEB screener completion.
- Establish data collection and storage system that meets student privacy standards specified in the federal Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act of 1974.
- Ensure access to data facilitates prompt analysis at multiple levels with easy integration with other district data collection systems.
- Review SEB screening scores and results to ensure their validity and accuracy.
- Determine how SEB screening results will be shared with key stakeholders, including parents, teachers, students, and/or district leaders.
- Develop protocol for how SEB screening results will be used at the school, grade-level, classroom, and student-level in connection with existing indicators of student well-being to identify and meet student need. The protocol should specify what data to use, when to use it, and how, including communication of results with parents and caregivers, and matching needs to interventions.
- Develop plan for documenting procedures and intervention plan such that progress and fidelity can be monitored.

#### **CONTEXTUAL APPROPRIATENESS**

Finally, school teams should consider whether a screener is appropriate for their particular school. To this end, it is recommended that schools answer a series of questions to understand the needs of their setting. First, which constructs, or outcomes are of interest to the school (tied to the vision and mission of the comprehensive system)? School A is beginning to implement a social and emotional learning (SEL) curriculum throughout the building. Thus, they are interested in a screener predictive of various socialemotional skills (e.g., self-awareness, relationship skills, responsible decision making), thereby supporting detection of students unresponsive to their universal SEL programming. School B commonly examines office discipline referral data to identify students engaging in highly problematic externalizing behaviors (e.g., opposition/defiance and aggression). They are now interested in adopting a screener predictive of less severe externalizing behaviors that might not result in an office referral but are nevertheless predictive of social and academic challenges (e.g., arguing and disruptive behavior). Finally, School C feels they are doing a good job identifying students exhibiting externalizing problems but could do better at identifying those exhibiting internalizing problems (e.g., depression and anxiety). They therefore adopt an abbreviated screener specific to internalizing concerns.

Second, which ages and grades will be screened? Many screeners were designed for general use across the K-12 spectrum and therefore assess broadly applicable behaviors and constructs. Others have forms specific to certain age/grade subgroups, such as early childhood, elementary school, and middle/high school. Accordingly, each form assesses behaviors and constructs relevant to the subgroup in question. To note, though some forms are intended for use across the broader K-12 spectrum, they are not necessarily evaluated to the same extent or with the same level of rigor across all ages and grades. Thus, care should be taken to confirm the empirical support for a screener within each particular subgroup<sup>78</sup>.

Third, in which language should screening forms be administered? Some students and parents will be most comfortable responding to rating scales and other instruments when they are in some language other than English. Though many screeners are available in English only, others have been translated to other languages. It is suggested that schools carefully consider what languages are spoken in their community to ensure the chosen screener can be used with all parents and students in an equitable manner.

Fourth, as discussed in the prior section, who would the school like to provide screening data? In certain situations, it is preferred that teachers serve as screening informants. This is particularly true when academic-related constructs are of interest (e.g., academic enablers<sup>79</sup>) and students are not old enough to be reliable and accurate informants regarding their own behavior (e.g., grades K-2). In other scenarios, it would be appropriate for parents to serve as informants given their increased opportunities to observe student behavior, such as during early childhood. Finally, at times it is most appropriate for students to serve as informants, particularly when internalized constructs are of interest (e.g., depression, social-emotional thinking) and when students are older and possess enhanced meta-cognitive and affective awareness. Once an optimal informant has been identified, it is important that the school confirm the screener possesses a form specific to that informant. Some screeners are specific to teachers, while others are limited to student self-report. Care should be taken to confirm a chosen screener supports a desired course of action.

Lastly, is the screener aligned with the structure of the school comprehensive service delivery system? Within some schools<sup>80</sup>, all at-risk students first receive Tier 2 supports before moving on to Tier 3, if necessary. Other schools, assign students identified as being at-risk to the level (Tier) of support specific to the severity of their needs. Recent research indicates categorization that differentiates students into more categories increases the information available to educators and increases the accuracy of resulting screening decisions<sup>81</sup>.

It is critically important that schools carefully consider which SEB screener is the best fit in regard to technical adequacy and fit for their unique population, context, and purpose. To ensure selection of a screener that is psychometrically defensible, aligned with the vision and mission of the school community, and feasible to implement, we provide the following key considerations for schools selecting a universal screener. As noted previously, screener selection is one small step in planning for a universal SEB screening system.

## IV. ETHICAL AND LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS FOR UNIVERSAL SCREENING OF SOCIAL, EMOTIONAL, AND BEHAVIORAL RISK

risk increases<sup>82</sup>, so too does the need for clarity around a number of logical considerations including issues pertinent to ethics and legality. Many schools experience difficulty in navigating the implications of universal screening as it relates to data use, consent/assent, and need for treatment. For example, there is much debate concerning the necessity of parental consent or use of "opt-out" procedures. What follows is not intended to be comprehensive in nature, but rather, an overview of the primary presenting issues concerning the legal and ethical implications for universal screening.

Jacob and colleagues identified five primary ethical and legal considerations of universal screening including 1) ensuring consent/assent process is acceptable under the Protection of Pupil Rights Amendment ([PPRA], 2001, Pub. L. No 107-110); 2) using screeners that are valid, fair, and useful; 3) understanding the limits of screening data for decision-making; 4) evaluating the incremental validity of the screener; and 5) the capacity of the school to act upon screening results in a meaningful manner.

#### CONSENT PROCEDURES

Prior to beginning universal screening, leadership teams should identify procedures for administering, scoring, interpreting, and utilizing universal screening data. This includes notifying parents, teachers, and students about the purpose and utility of screening data and providing parents and students with an option not to participate. As noted within the Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act (IDEA; 2004; see 34 C.F.R. 300.302 and S 34 C.F.R 300.300[d]2] [ii]), screening that is used to determine instruction or completed as part of regular school activities does not require parental consent (see sample opt-out forms in Appendix C.1 and C.2). However, when assessments are individualized (e.g., conducting a comprehensive evaluation for consideration of special education services) or are individualized to be conducted with one student, federal policy requires parental consent<sup>83</sup>. The majority of evidence-based screening procedures fall under the umbrella of typical assessments for regular school activities, therefore written consent would

not be required84. This would include administering screening measures to all students in a classroom, grade, or school and this information is used to inform intervention supports delivered in the general education setting. If schools elect to use student self-report measures, the Protection of Pupil Rights Amendment (PPRA, 201685) mandates that schools cannot require all students to participate and may want to consider parental consent, depending upon the content of items within universal screening measures. If the constructs assessed fall under typical school expectations related to learning (e.g., cooperation with peers, motivation to learn), active parental consent may not be warranted. If screening items include content that address "mental or psychological problems" as defined by PPRA, schools may wish to consider family rights and parental consent procedures. Readers are encouraged to reference the Family Education Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA, 2016) for a more comprehensive examination of student record. data use, and related protections as well as specific assessment consent procedures required by IDEA. See the previous section on Selecting a Universal SEB Screening Tool regarding best practices in identifying a psychometrically defensive screener, including those validated for use with a specific population of students.

#### LIMITS OF SCREENING DATA

Before selecting a universal screening measure, it is important to identify the limits of decision-making based upon screening results, as well as the capacity to inform meaningful results beyond other sources of information (e.g., discipline referrals, teacher observation). Decisions made based upon the data should be defensible and consistent with the intended and validated purpose of the screener. For example, universal screeners are intended to support detection of early warning signs, and NOT for the purposes of diagnosis. Research has not supported the use of screeners to predict violence or suicide<sup>86</sup>. That is, there are very few (if any) instruments that can reliably predict suicide risk<sup>1</sup> and none that can predict future violence. Screeners for violence

1 Readers should review best practices in screening for suicide, and relevant tools such as the Columbia Suicide Severity Rating Scale. Individual screening items on universal SEB screening instruments, as defined in this document, are not intended to be used as the sole determinant of risk for suicide or self-

#### KEY CONSIDERATIONS FOR SELECTING A UNIVERSAL SEB SCREENING TOOL

#### **TECHNICAL ADEQUACY**

- Determine if the SEB screener functions similarly across different student subgroups.
- Consider the similarities and differences between the populations that were used to research and develop the SEB screener and your school.
- Evaluate the reliability (consistency) and validity (accuracy) of the SEB screener.
- Determine if the SEB screener differentiates between students who are truly at risk and those that are not (diagnostic accuracy).

#### CONTEXTUAL APPROPRIATENESS

- Determine if the SEB screener focuses on the outcomes your school is targeting through their comprehensive support system.
- Determine how the information from the SEB screener aligns with other data sources being used for making decisions.
- Determine if the SEB screener is available and has empirical support for the ages/grades you will be screening and respondent you plan to use.
- Consider the need for a SEB screener to be administered in another language and any other considerations to ensure all parents and students can engage in the screening process.

#### **USABILITY AND FEASIBILITY**

- Establish the amount of time, effort, cost and expertise is needed to use the SEB screener and score the resulting data.
- Determine how and where SEB data will be stored depending on whether a web-based/commercial or internal system is used.
- Determine what systems and supports will be needed to use SEB screening data for decision making.
- Determine how much training and ongoing support will be needed to implement the SEB screener.
- Consider input from students, parents and school staff on the SEB screeners being considered.
- Determine how SEB data will be shared with key stakeholders.

and suicide typically fall under different ethical and legal guidance, as well as (active) consent procedures than do SEB screeners. Relatedly, schools should exercise caution in using multiple narrow band measures (e.g., depression, anxiety) to inform treatment given the increased likelihood of false positives when using more than one screener. School teams must carefully evaluate the evidence supporting (or not) the treatment utility of a universal screener for different stakes of decisions (e.g., program evaluation versus individual determination of risk and need for intervention) or domains of interest (e.g., strengthbased, deficit-focused). Other data are required to inform individual student decisions and selected treatments. Although universal screeners are used to identify the presence of SEB risk, other sources of data may be more readily available and better able to inform treatment needs and planning—for example, following detection of risk by a universal screener, a functional behavior assessment may be needed to develop an individualized treatment plan.

Lastly, school teams must be prepared to act upon screening results. That is, school teams have an ethical obligation to use screening data in a way that is timely, meaningful, and defensible. Before any universal screening program is enacted. a school should develop a reasonable timeline of actions beginning with planned data review typically within two to three weeks of administering the screener. There is an ethical responsibility to enact meaningful decisions on said data (i.e., "screen to intervene"). It is unethical to collect data that requires the use of school time and/ or resources, without utilizing the data to inform service delivery. Many school administrators have expressed concern about the possibility of a large number of students identified on a universal screener overwhelming current service capacity<sup>87</sup>. As discussed in the prior sections, conducting screening within a larger comprehensive system of SEB intervention with a clearly defined purpose and procedures is foundational and aligns with best practices in assessment. Schools fully implementing universal screening have a continuum of SEB intervention and assessment determined by student need and available resources. Developing a protocol for data use that matches intensity of student, classroom, and school need to intervention prior to screening is essential.

## SAMPLE STATE LEVEL GUIDANCE ON UNIVERSAL SCREENING

State guidance on universal SEB screening appears to be evolving. Although many states provide guidance on screening broadly within the context of a MTSS, most still do not provide guidance specific to SEB screening and few have specific mandates<sup>88</sup>. Even in the absence of mandates, however, State Departments can play a critical role in disseminating information to key stakeholders and providing resources and professional development to support implementation of SEB screening<sup>89</sup>.

The description that follows is an example description of state level guidance on the use of SEB screening. [STATE] supports a multi-tiered system of support framework to address the academic, socialemotional, and behavioral needs of all students90. Universal screening and progress monitoring are foundational components of [STATE]'s Multi-tiered System of Supports, which is a framework that uses data-based problem-solving to integrate academic and behavioral instruction and intervention<sup>91</sup>. Universal screening serves two primary purposes: 1) assess the effectiveness of universal academic, social-emotional and behavioral instruction, programs and supports, and, 2) identify students who are at risk for academic, behavioral, social, and mental health problems in order to receive early intervention services. The Mental Health Assistance Allocation<sup>92</sup> requires each school district to submit a multi-tiered system of support plan for delivering evidence-based mental health care assessment, diagnosis, intervention, treatment, and recovery services to students with, or at high risk for, one or more mental health or co-occurring substance abuse diagnoses. The plan must include strategies to improve the early identification of social, emotional, or behavioral problems, improve the provision of early intervention services, assist students in dealing with trauma and violence, and must include policies and procedures for ensuring that mental health screenings and assessments are conducted in a timely fashion.

Mental health screening is a sensitive topic and parents should be aware of the universal screening policies and procedures in their child's school, as well as the types of screenings that are routinely conducted. Parental consent requirements for mental health screening vary depending on the respondent and funding source. Parental consent is not required when the respondent is a teacher. The Protection of Pupil Rights Amendment (PPRA) and Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA) both require that parents be notified of and provided an opportunity to review and opt out of student

surveys of protected information. For surveys that are administered by an LEA, PPRA requires that the LEA "directly" notify parents and provide an opportunity to opt their children out of participation ("passive" consent). When developing policies and procedures relating to universal behavioral and mental health screening and parental consent, districts and schools are encouraged to consult with their General Counsel as well as the ethical guidelines of student services professions.

#### **Summary of Ethical and Legal Considerations**

As with any assessment process, there are numerous ethical and legal considerations for school teams to consider throughout implementation. This section only summarizes some of the common concerns that school teams often raise when considering implementation of universal SEB screening. In addition to federal policies and regulations, readers should consult with school district statutes as well as State regulatory guidance. As noted previously, ongoing consultation with legal experts, adherence to the ethical guidelines of mental health professionals, and ethical decision-making are critically important to protecting the welfare and rights of students and families, and, above all else to do no harm.

#### V. CONCLUSION



his guide was developed to inform school and district teams, stakeholders, and states supporting implementation of universal SEB screening as a component of a comprehensive multi-tiered support system. There are several areas related to universal SEB screening that span research, policy and practice that we believe warrant additional research, development, and evaluation. These include:

- Approaches to actively engage parents and students as partners informing the implementation of a comprehensive SEB support system, including SEB screening.
- Increased understanding of how universal SEB screening measures and approaches can be improved to promote equity across diverse student populations.
- Understanding how focusing on different constructs of universal SEB screening impacts intervention targets and how to most optimally screen for indicators of SEB well-being and risk for SEB problems.
- Identification of optimal informants and frequency of universal SEB screening during the school year.
- Approaches to establishing school readiness to implement SEB screening that is impactful, defensible, and valued by all stakeholders.
- 6. Professional development and ongoing technical assistance to increase the accuracy and consistency of ratings.
- 7. Guidelines for school teams engaging in data-based decision making using SEB screening data in combination with other data sources.
- 8. Policies that promote best practices in SEB screening and protect student and family rights.

Universal SEB screening practices are increasingly being adopted by schools prioritizing the SEB well-being of their students and school community. We look forward to updating the information in this guide as research, policy, and practice continue to inform recommendations implementation of SEB screening.

#### APPENDIX A

## Universal Social, Emotional, and Behavioral Screening Resources

- School Mental Health Screening Playbook: Best Practices and Tips from the Field
  - a. http://www.project-covitality.info/research/nsmhcschoolmentalhealthscr.pdf
- 2. CI3T Website Systematic Screening
  - a. http://www.project-covitality.info/research/nsmhcschoolmentalhealthscr.pdf
- 3. School-Wide Universal Screening for Behavioral and Mental Health Issues: Implementation Guidance
  - a. https://education.ohio.gov/getattachment/Topics/Other-Resources/ School-Safety/Building-Better-Learning-Environments/PBIS-Resources/ Project-AWARE-Ohio/Project-AWARE-Ohio-Statewide-Resources/ Screening-Guidance-Document-Final.pdf.aspx
- Example of district specific information for parents regarding their SEB screening:
  - a. https://www.lbusd.org/page.cfm?p=1095
- 5. Ready, Set, Go, Review: Screening for Behavioral Health Risk in Schools
  - a. https://www.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/ready\_set\_go\_review\_mh\_screening\_in\_schools\_508.pdf
- 6. NAMI Mental Health Screening Stance
  - <u>a. https://www.nami.org/Learn-More/Mental-Health-Public-Policy/Mental-Health-Screening</u>
- 7. NASP Universal Screening Articles and Handouts
  - a. https://www.nasponline.org/x37269.xml
- 8. CASEL
  - a.https://www.casel.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/stategiesassessment-SEL-EDC.pdf
- 9. AIR
  - <u>a.https://dpi.wi.gov/sites/default/files/imce/sspw/pdf/selair-readytoassess-think.pdf</u>
  - b. https://dpi.wi.gov/sites/default/files/imce/sspw/pdf/selair-readytoassess-act.pdf
- 10. RAND Measuring SEL
  - a. https://ocde.us/EducationalServices/LearningSupports/HealthyMinds/ Documents/SEL/SEL%20Assess%20and%20Screen/Choosing-and-Using-SEL-Competency-Assessments What-Schools-and-Districts-Need-to-Know.pdf

#### APPENDIX B

#### Implementation Checklist and Planning Guide

The intent of this checklist is to help teams facilitate, monitor and problem solve the implementation process, and is not designed to be comprehensive in nature. Readers are strongly encouraged to review the content throughout this implementation guide to inform specific processes as well as consulting with legal/ethical guidelines, state and district policies and statutes, and independent reviews of technical adequacy of screening instruments (e.g., National Center for Intensive Intervention). In addition, teams should determine that data are valid and reliable for at least 90% of the target (universal) population, and collected two to three times per year, using a psychometrically defensible SEB screener, and the data is utilized to inform decisions that impact how educators improve SEB interventions and practices. Full implementation of a SEB screening system involves screening two to three times per year.

Screening Item for Consideration	Not in Place	Partially in Place	In Place	Action Steps
EXPLORATION				
Identify a need for universal screening for SEB that includes goals and objectives				
Establish a shared understanding of the goal and purpose of universal screening				
Determine buy-in from key stakeholders, including parents, teachers, and school leaders				
READINESS				
There is a school team including members with SEB expertise				
Team has reviewed available SEB interventions to be matched to screening				
Data-based problem solving process is in place, including decision rules				
ADOPTION				
Select screening instrument  Technical adequacy  Usability and feasibility  Contextual appropriateness  Cost (time & financial)  Scoring software or protocols				
Identify scoring procedures and technology needs. Instrument to be completed online (automatic scoring) or paper (identify person to compile data)				
Determine timing and frequency of screening				
Establish consent and/or opt-out procedures				
Determine choice of informant (teacher, parent, student self-report)				
Develop plan to train staff to complete screener, how to use data				
Schedule time to communicate results and begin problem solving process				

#### V. CONCLUSION

DATA COLLECTION AND STORAGE		
Establish plan for data privacy (online/digital or storage of physical protocols)		
Determine who has access to screening data		
Develop criteria for determining the quality of data and identification of any data for removal (e.g., inconsistent response patterns)		
INSTALLATION		
Establish plan to use screening results to evaluate and monitor the effectiveness of Tier I or Universal supports		
Establish plan for using screening results with other data (e.g., teacher referrals, discipline referrals) to identify students who need interventions  What data to use  When to use data  How to use data		
Establish procedures for communicating concerns to families		
Create regular review schedule to connect screening data to intervention, and monitor trends across the year(s)		

#### APPENDIX C.1

The following are only examples that have been modified for the purpose of deidentification and use as an example. These forms should not be directly adopted for use; they are intended to be examples and may not address the ethical and legal considerations for every district or school.

#### Sample Consent for Opt Out

Dear	Famil	ly IVI	eml	bers,

In our continuing efforts to support the well-being of all our students, we will be administering a universal assessment of social, emotional & behavioral health. The assessment consists of a brief rating scale that is going to be completed by the homeroom or classroom teachers. In addition, students over age 12 may complete a self-rating. Together, this information helps us to understand the needs of all our students and to make effective plans at the whole school, class, and individual level. We are always working to support the needs of our school community, including school-wide programs such as positive behavioral interventions and supports and our social-emotional learning curriculum. It is important that your child feel that academic learning is their focus at school and that the adults they work with each day are doing all they can to create a safe and supportive environment.

If you would like more information about the universal assessment and the other supports we have at our school please call [INSERT NAMES HERE]. There is also the option we present to all families for their child to not participate in the screener. If you choose for your child to not participate in the screener, complete and return the form at the bottom of the page.

Thank you, NAME ADMINISTRATOR		
-	be administering a universal assessment of and that by signing this form, my student wil	
Name of Parent / Guardian:	Parent / Guardian Signature:	 Date:

#### APPENDIX C.2

The following are only examples that have been modified for the purpose of deidentification and use as an example. These forms should not be directly adopted for use; they are intended to be examples and may not address the ethical and legal considerations for every district or school.

#### Sample Consent for Opt Out

Date: XXXX Dear Parents and Guardians: [DISTRICT NAME] County Public Schools are committed to improving the culture and climate of our schools, and supporting the whole child. One way we are addressing the whole child is by looking at student strengths and areas of concern for social, emotional, and behavioral well-being. As mandated by the Marjory Stoneman Douglas High School Public Safety Act — your child will participate in universal screening [INSERT SCREENING TOOL HERE] to identify student needs, provide prevention and/or positive supports and intervention. The survey will be administered in the Fall (October/November) to help support students. Teachers will complete a brief survey that will help find children who may be at risk to develop academic or other school-related concerns. This survey will also help promote social emotional well-being for all students. If you would prefer that your child not participate in the universal screening, please complete and sign the portion below, and return this form to the school by DATE. If you have any questions please contact our Director of School Behavioral Health, NAME, at EMAIL@EMAIL.COM or at 867-5309. An informational flyer is available in the school front office, further explaining universal screening. Sincerely, School Principal I have read the above statement and request that my child OPT-OUT of the universal screening. Child's Name (print) Parent/Guardian's Signature\_\_\_\_\_ Date of Signature\_\_\_\_

#### APPENDIX D

## Frequently Asked Questions about Universal Social, Emotional, and Behavioral Screening

The following are commonly asked questions about social, emotional, and behavioral (SEB) screening, which is sometimes referred to as universal or school-wide social-emotional, mental/behavioral health, or social emotional learning (SEL) screening. This document provides responses based on ethical and legal guidelines and requirements, SEB screening research, and expert consensus. Please note these are general responses to commonly asked questions. When schools implement SEB screening, information that addresses the questions below as it applies to the specific school's context and screening procedures should be clearly communicated to parents, students, and stakeholders.

#### What is universal SEB screening?

How students engage socially and emotionally with their peers, educators, and their school impacts learning and long-term success in life. Schools are teaching and creating contexts that promote social and emotional skills and wellness for all students. Across all content areas, educators use assessments to determine the strengths and weaknesses of their students so they can plan how to best teach and support their students. Just as students participate in screenings for vision, physical health, reading, and other academic areas, SEB screening provides an indicator of whether a student's SEB health is on track or if there might be a problem. Screening is a proactive approach in that it provides important information to ensure help is provided before little problems become big ones. Universal screening data is typically collected two to three times per year and involves either teachers, parents, and/or students rating a short list of items, which typically takes a few minutes to complete.

 Universal SEB screening provides educators with an indicator of how well all students are doing and if some students are in need of additional SEB supports and services. Universal screening data are intended to inform decisions about how educators can better support the SEB wellness of the students they are charged with teaching. Educators collaborate closely with and inform parents throughout the SEB screening process.

In a typical school at any given point in time, approximately one in five students has SEB needs; that is, they are experiencing challenges that interfere with their daily SEB functioning. Most students with SEB needs are facing common stressors and social-emotional problems that can be improved when supports are provided in a timely manner. Regardless of an individual student's need, all students (and educators) benefit from warm, caring learning environments and knowledge of SEB skills that support their wellbeing. Schools committed to SEB development gather universal screening data to assess the SEB skills, strengths, and challenges of their students and use the information to help determine how staff can best support students.

#### Who is in charge of universal SEB screening?

Universal screening is part of a larger effort to promote the SEB wellbeing of students and their learning community. A school team usually oversees the SEB screening process and is responsible for establishing procedures and routines for SEB screening data collection, interpretation, and use. This team typically includes administrators, teachers, support staff with mental health and behavioral expertise, and, ideally, family and youth leadership. This school team will also consult with other content experts when needed or their legal or Information Technology departments.

#### What does a universal SEB screener measure?

There are many different SEB screeners available for schools to use. Some screeners measure SEB strengths, some measure SEB problems, and some measure both strengths and problems. It is important to note that universal SEB screening data provides only a general estimate of a student's functioning. SEB screeners are developed to cast a wide net to detect all students that could possibly be in need of additional support. Screeners are NOT intended to make diagnoses or determine each student's highly specific needs. The most widely supported SEB screeners focus on social, emotional, and behavioral indicators that are reliable (consistent), valid (accurate and applicable), and associated with SEB wellness and academic success. Gathering meaningful SEB screening data requires schools to: 1) prioritize equitable SEB outcomes, 2) partner with youth and families, 3) select a screener that fits their purpose and context, and 4) adhere

#### V. CONCLUSION

to the ethical guidelines and legal requirements and policies, and 5) ensure they have the resources (money, staff, time, etc.) to use the screener as intended.

#### How do parents and students know if a school is using a quality SEB screener?

Professional standards are available to guide the creation and evaluation of measures such as a universal SEB screener. With the increased focus on SEB wellness, it is important for schools to communicate to families what the SEB screener is measuring, how data will be used, and if the screener has been validated (i.e., meets research and evidence standards).

#### Does every student have to participate in SEB screening?

At the very least, schools provide parents with a detailed notification and opportunity to "opt out" of SEB screening. Under some circumstances, SEB screening or assessments require parents to sign a document to give the school permission for their child to take part in the screening.

#### Who has access to universal SEB screening data?

Similar to other data collected from all students in a school, SEB screening data are aggregated (combined) to identify patterns and evaluate how the student population as a whole is doing. These data should be summarized for educators, students, and families. The Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act protects individual student data. Schools work closely with their Information Technology department to ensure data are secure and only those educators with permission can access individual student data. Schools should also clearly communicate how data will be stored, who will have access, and if under any circumstances SEB screening data might be linked to a student's permanent records.

#### How are universal SEB screening results communicated?

How student scores on SEB screenings are communicated to parents varies depending on screening process and purpose. However, like all data used by schools to screen and monitor the progress of students in different areas, parents should be notified of the results, provided guidance on how to interpret the results, and have access to a contact should they have follow-up questions or concerns. For example, results showing school-wide data may be communicated to all parents and students or parents and/or students may receive information about their individual results when a school team is recommending follow-up steps.

#### What will happen if a student is identified as being at-risk?

Prior to collecting SEB screening data, schools identify the purpose of SEB screening and develop procedures for how data will be used and communicated. Procedures for identifying students who may access additional supports because the SEB screener indicates they are at-risk, may include setting a threshold for how many students can be supported given available resources, focusing on SEB supports for all students, and/or a systematic process for determining who will receive additional supports and the referral process for such supports. Parent notification and, depending on the follow-up recommendations, parent consent may be needed for further individualized assessment and services. Parents may be invited to attend a meeting focused on their child's needs. If a student is identified as being at-risk for SEB problems, the school will notify the parent and communicate follow-up procedures to verify if there is a SEB need and what additional help might be provided should the parent agree. The school should facilitate ongoing communication with all parents and students as well as establish procedures for increased collaboration when there is a student concern.

#### Are there other ways to access SEB services?

Sometimes a student's score on a SEB screener is in the average range, yet other sources of data (such as reports from a different person such as a parent or teacher) suggest a SEB problem exists. Schools typically have a referral process in place and will work with parents or students to ensure access to SEB supports and services.

#### Are there any policies that schools need to follow when using SEB screening?

Schools implementing universal SEB screening should be familiar with relevant ethical and legal guidelines and policies. School teams should also have representation of mental health professionals that are expected to (a) adhere to their professional ethical guidelines, (b) actively seek input from family and youth as they develop and implement their SEB screening procedures, and (c) consult with their Information Technology and legal departments to ensure the security and adherence to applicable federal and state laws and policies.

#### APPENDIX E

#### Guiding Questions for Developing A Protocol for Using SEB Screening Data

First, the answers to several overarching questions should guide a school team's development of a protocol for using universal SEB screening data to inform decisions, including:

- Why are we implementing universal SEB screening?
- What questions are we trying to answer?
- How have we defined our student "universe" (e.g., all students)? If not all students, what is our rationale for focusing on only a subset of students.
- What does our universal SEB screener measure? What types of scores (i.e., total and subscales) and classifications (e.g., not atrisk and at-risk) does our SEB screener provide?
- How often during the school year are we gathering universal screening data?
- How far are we in implementing a full continuum of comprehensive SEB supports (i.e., what interventions are being implemented
  at which tiers and are they being implemented with fidelity and effectiveness)?

The following questions are intended for school teams to consider as they develop a protocol for using SEB screening data to inform decisions:

- How will we share SEB screening data with parents, students, and other stakeholders and when?
- How will we use SEB screening data to monitor change over time (e.g., fall to spring)?
- How will we analyze SEB screening data at different levels (school, grade, classroom, student)?
- How will we analyze data for data for different subgroups (e.g., gender, ethnicity, IEP status, etc.)?
- How will we use data to match students to intervention?
  - Based on our capacity to provide additional supports?
  - Based on risk classification?
  - Based on risk classification and other risk indicators (e.g., attendance, test scores, discipline referrals)?
- How will we develop our decision rules to match students to intervention?
  - How will we confirm the need for additional intervention?
  - What other data sources (e.g., office referrals, attendance, etc.) will we consider?
  - How will we determine which intervention to match students?
  - When and how will we collect additional data?
- How will we evaluate our SEB screening system as a whole?
  - Are all students identified as having SEB need, receiving intervention matched to their needs? What percentage of these students are responding to intervention?
  - Are outcomes for students accessing intervention improving?
  - Are interventions available to meet the needs of all identified students?
  - How much time is lapsing between SEB screening and students receiving intervention?

#### REFERENCES

- 1 Weist, M. D., Youngstrom, E., Myers, C. P., Warner, B. S., Varghese, S., & Dorsey, N. (2002). A clinically useful screening interview to assess violence exposure in youth. *Child Psychiatry and Human Development*, *32*(4), 309-325.
- 2 Tolan, P. H., & Dodge, K. A. (2005). Children's mental health as a primary care and concern: a system for comprehensive support and service. *American Psychologist*, *60*(6), 601.
- 3 Bruhn, A. L., Woods-Groves, S., & Huddle, S. (2014). A preliminary investigation of emotional and behavioral screening practices in K–12 schools. *Education and Treatment of Children, 37*(4), 611-634.
- 4 Cowan, K. C., Vaillancourt, K., Rossen, E., & Pollitt, K. (2013). A framework for safe and successful schools [Brief]. Bethesda, MD: *National Association of School Psychologists*.
- 5 Hogan, M. F. (2003). New Freedom Commission report: The president's New Freedom Commission: recommendations to transform mental health care in America. *Psychiatric Services*, *54*(11), 1467-1474
- 6 Briesch, A. M., Chafouleas, S. M., & Chaffee, R. K. (2018). Analysis of state-level guidance regarding school-based, universal screening for social, emotional, and behavioral risk. *School Mental Health, 10*(2), 147-162.
- 7 Merikangas, K. R., He, J. P., Burstein, M., Swanson, S. A., Avenevoli, S., Cui, L., ... & Swendsen, J. (2010). Lifetime prevalence of mental disorders in US adolescents: results from the National Comorbidity Survey Replication—Adolescent Supplement (NCS-A). *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, 49*(10), 980-989.
- 8 Merikangas, K. R., Nakamura, E. F., & Kessler, R. C. (2009). Epidemiology of mental disorders in children and adolescents. Dialogues in *Clinical Neuroscience*, *11*(1), 7.
- 9 Chandra, A., & Minkovitz, C. S. (2006). Stigma starts early: Gender differences in teen willingness to use mental health services. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, *38*(6), 754-e1.
- 10 Merikangas, K. R., He, J. P., Brody, D., Fisher, P. W., Bourdon, K., & Koretz, D. S. (2010). Prevalence and treatment of mental disorders among US children in the 2001–2004 NHANES. *Pediatrics, 125*(1), 75-81.
- 11 Farmer, E. M., & Farmer, T. W. (1999). The role of schools in outcomes for youth: Implications for children's mental health services research. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, *8*(4), 377-396.
- 12 Rones, M., & Hoagwood, K. (2000). School-based mental health services: A research review. Clinical Child and Family Psychology review, 3(4), 223-241.

- 13 Fixsen, D. L., Blase, K. A., Duda, M. A., Naoom, S. F., & Van Dyke, M. (2010). Implementation of evidence-based treatments for children and adolescents: Research findings and their implications for the future. In J. R. Weisz & A. E. Kazdin (Eds.), *Evidence-based psychotherapies for children and adolescents* (pp. 435-450). New York, NY, US: The Guilford Press.
- 14 Forman, S. G., Shapiro, E. S., Codding, R. S., Gonzales, J. E., Reddy, L. A., Rosenfield, S. A., ... & Stoiber, K. C. (2013). Implementation science and school psychology. *School Psychology Quarterly*, *28*(2), 77.
- 15 Greenberg, M. T., Domitrovich, C. E., Graczyk, P. A., & Zins, J. E. (2005). The study of implementation in school-based preventive interventions: Theory, research, and practice. *Promotion of Mental Health and Prevention of Mental and Behavioral Disorders 2005 Series V3*, 21.
- 16 Kutash, K., Banks, S., Duchnowski, A., & Lynn, N. (2007). Implications of nested designs in school-based mental health services research. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, *30*(2), 161-171.
- 17 Stephan, S. H., Weist, M., Kataoka, S., Adelsheim, S., & Mills, C. (2007). Transformation of children's mental health services: The role of school mental health. *Psychiatric Services*, *58*(10), 1330-1338.
- 18 Suldo, S. M., Gormley, M. J., DuPaul, G. J., & Anderson-Butcher, D. (2014). The impact of school mental health on student and school-level academic outcomes: Current status of the research and future directions. *School Mental Health*, *6*(2), 84-98.
- 19 Durlak, J. A., Weissberg, R. P., Dymnicki, A. B., Taylor, R. D., & Schellinger, K. B. (2011). The impact of enhancing students' social and emotional learning: A meta-analysis of school-based universal interventions. *Child Development*. *82*(1), 405-432.
- 20 Horner, R. H., Sugai, G., & Anderson, C. M. (2010). Examining the evidence base for school-wide positive behavior support. *Focus on Exceptional Children*, *42*(8).
- 21 Doll, B., Cummings, J. A., & Chapla, B. A. (2014). Best practices in population-based school mental health services. In P. L. Harrison & A. Thomas (Eds.), *Best practices in school psychology: Systems-level perspectives* (pp. 149–163). Bethesda, MD: National Association of School Psychologists.
- 22 Durlak, J. A., Weissberg, R. P., Dymnicki, A. B., Taylor, R. D., & Schellinger, K. B. (2011). The impact of enhancing students' social and emotional learning: A meta-analysis of school-based universal interventions. *Child Development*, *82*(1), 405-432.
- 23 Payton, J., Weissberg, R. P., Durlak, J. A., Dymnicki, A. B., Taylor, R. D., Schellinger, K. B., & Pachan, M. (2008). The Positive Impact of Social and Emotional Learning for Kindergarten to Eighth-Grade Students: Findings from Three Scientific Reviews. Technical

- Report. *Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning* (NJ1).
- 24 Adelman, H. S., & Taylor, L. (2000). Promoting mental health in schools in the midst of school reform. *Journal of School Health*, *70*(5), 171-178.
- 25 Merrell, K. W., Gueldner, B. A., Ross, S. W., & Isava, D. M. (2008). How effective are school bullying intervention programs? A meta-analysis of intervention research. *School Psychology Quarterly*, *23*(1), 26.
- 26 Weist, M. D., Eber, L., Horner, R., Splett, J., Putnam, R., Barrett, S., ... & Hoover, S. (2018). Improving multitiered systems of support for students with "internalizing" emotional/behavioral problems. *Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions*, *20*(3), 172-184.
- 27 Barrett, S., Eber, L., & Weist, M. D. (2013). Advancing education effectiveness: An interconnected systems framework for Positive Behavioral Interventions and Supports (PBIS) and school mental health. Retrieved from pbis.org.
- 28 Dowdy, E., Furlong, M., Raines, T. C., Bovery, B., Kauffman, B., Kamphaus, R. W., ... & Murdock, J. (2015). Enhancing school-based mental health services with a preventive and promotive approach to universal screening for complete mental health. *Journal of Educational and Psychological Consultation*, *25*(2-3), 178-197.
- 29 Glover, T. A., & Albers, C. A. (2007). Considerations for evaluating universal screening assessments. *Journal of School Psychology*, *45*(2), 117-135.
- 30 Lane, K. L., Menzies, H. M., Oakes, W. P., & Kalberg, J. R. (2012). Systematic screenings of behavior to support instruction. *New York: Guilford*.
- 31 Miller, F. G., Chafouleas, S. M., Welsh, M. E., Riley-Tillman, T. C., & Fabiano, G. A. (2019). Examining the stability of social, emotional, and behavioral risk status: Implications for screening frequency. *School Psychology*, *34*(1), 43.
- 32 Rones, M., & Hoagwood, K. (2000). School-based mental health services: A research review. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, *3*(4), 223-241.
- 33 Wagner, M., Kutash, K., Duchnowski, A. J., & Epstein, M. H. (2005). The special education elementary longitudinal study and the national longitudinal transition study: Study designs and implications for children and youth with emotional disturbance. *Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Disorders*, *13*(1), 25-41.
- 34 Kilgus, S. P., & Eklund, K. R. (2016, March). Consideration of base rates within universal screening for behavioral and emotional risk: A novel procedural framework. In *School Psychology Forum* (Vol. 10, No. 1).

- 35 Albers, C. A., & Kettler, R. J. (2014). Best practices in universal screening. In P.L. Harrison & A. Thomas (Eds.), Best practices in school psychology: Data-based and collaborative decision making (pp. 121-131). Bethesda, MD: National Association of School Psychologists.
- 36 Dowdy, E., Furlong, M., Eklund, K., Saeki, E., & Ritchey, K. (2010). Screening for mental health and wellness: Current school-based practice and emerging possibilities. In B. Doll, W. Pfohl, & J. Yoon (Eds.), *Handbook of youth prevention science*. New York: Routledge.
- 37 Auerbach, E. R., Chafouleas, S. M., & Briesch, A. M. (2019). State-Level Guidance on School-Based Screening for Social, Emotional, and Behavioral Risk: A Follow-Up Study. *School Mental Health*, *11*(1), 141-147.
- 38 Hoover, S., Lever, N., Sachdev, N., Bravo, N., Schlitt, J., Acosta Price, O., Sheriff, L. & Cashman, J. (2019). *Advancing Comprehensive School Mental Health: Guidance From the Field. Baltimore, MD: National Center for School Mental Health.* University of Maryland School of Medicine.
- 39 ESSA (2015). Every Student Succeeds Act of 2015, Pub. L. No. 114-95 § 114, 1177 Stat. (2015- 2016).
- 40 Auerbach, E. R., Chafouleas, S. M., & Briesch, A. M. (2019). State-Level Guidance on School-Based Screening for Social, Emotional, and Behavioral Risk: A Follow-Up Study. *School Mental Health*, *11*(1), 141-147.
- 41 Suldo, S. M., Thalji-Raitano, A., Kiefer, S. M., & Ferron, J. M. (2016). Conceptualizing high school students' mental health through a dual-factor model. *School Psychology Review*, *45*(4), 434-457.
- 42 Suldo, S. M., & Romer, N. (2016). Integrating positive psychology in a multi-tiered system of support (Chapter 10; pp 146-160). In S. M. Suldo, *Promoting student happiness: Positive psychology interventions in schools*. New York: Guilford.
- 43 Dowdy, E., Furlong, M., Raines, T. C., Bovery, B., Kauffman, B., Kamphaus, R. W., Dever, B. V., Price, M., & Murdock, J. (2015). Enhancing school-based mental health services with a preventive and promotive approach to universal screening for complete mental health. *Journal of Educational and Psychological Consultation*, *25*, 178–197, doi: 10.1080/10474412.2014.929951
- 44 Nickerson, A. B., & Fishman, C. E. (2013). Promoting mental health and resilience through strength-based assessment in US schools. *Educational and Child Psychology*, *30*(4), 7-17.
- 45 Weist, M. D., Rubin, M., Moore, E., Adelsheim, S., & Wrobel, G. (2007). Mental health screening in schools. *Journal of School Health*, *77*(2), 53-58.
- 46 Splett, J. W., Perales, K., Halliday-Boykins, C. A., Gilchrest, C. E., Gibson, N., & Weist, M. D. (2017). Best practices for teaming and collaboration in the interconnected systems framework. *Journal of*

- Applied School Psychology, 33(4), 347-368
- 47 Eklund, K., & Dowdy, E. (2014). Screening for behavioral and emotional risk versus traditional school identification methods. *School Mental Health*, *6*, 40-49
- 48 Kettler, R.J., Gover, T.J., Albers, C.A., Feeney-Kettler, K.A.(Eds.) (2014). Universal Screening in Educational Settings: Evidence-Based Decision Making for Schools (pp. 47-75). American Psycholological Association
- 49 Cunningham, J. M., & Suldo, S. M. (2014). Accuracy of teachers in identifying elementary school students who report at-risk levels of anxiety and depression. *School Mental Health*, *6*(4), 237-250.
- 50 Bruhn, A. L., Woods-Groves, S., & Huddle, S. (2014). A preliminary investigation of emotional and behavioral screening practices in K–12 schools. *Education and Treatment of Children, 37*(4), 611-634.
- 51 Kilgus, S. P., & Eklund, K. R. (2016, March). Consideration of base rates within universal screening for behavioral and emotional risk: A novel procedural framework. In *School Psychology Forum* (Vol. 10, No. 1).
- 52 Kim, E. K., Furlong, M. J., Dowdy, E., & Felix, E. D. (2014). Exploring the relative contributions of the strength and distress components of dual-factor complete mental health screening. *Canadian Journal of School Psychology*, *29*(2), 127-140.
- 53 Donovan, S. A., & Nickerson, A. B. (2007). Strength-based versus traditional social-emotional reports: Impact on multidisciplinary team members' perceptions. *Behavioral Disorders*, *32*(4), 228-237.
- 54 von der Embse, N., Kim, E., Kilgus, S., Dedrick, R., & Sanchez, A. (2019). Multi-informant universal screening: Evaluation of rater, item, and construct variance with a trifactor model. *Journal of School Psychology*.
- 55 Bruhn, A. L., Woods-Groves, S., & Huddle, S. (2014). A preliminary investigation of emotional and behavioral screening practices in K–12 schools. *Education and Treatment of Children*, 37(4), 611-634.
- 56 von der Embse, N. P., Kilgus, S. P., Eklund, K., Ake, E., & Levi-Neilsen, S. (2018). Training teachers to facilitate early identification of mental and behavioral health risks. *School Psychology Review*, 47(4), 372-384.
- 57 von der Embse, N., Kim, E., Kilgus, S., Dedrick, R., & Sanchez, A. (2019). Multi-informant universal screening: Evaluation of rater, item, and construct variance with a trifactor model. *Journal of School Psychology*.
- 58 Riley, A. W. (2004). Evidence that school-age children can self-report on their health. *Ambulatory Pediatrics*, *4*(4), 371-376.
- 59 LeBuffe, P. A., Shapiro, V. B., & Robitaille, J. L. (2018). The Devereux

- Student Strengths Assessment (DESSA) comprehensive system: Screening, assessing, planning, and monitoring. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, *55*, 62-70.
- 60 Bordignon, C. M., & Lam, T. C. (2004). The early assessment conundrum: Lessons from the past, implications for the future. *Psychology in the Schools*, *41*(7), 737-749.
- 61 Miller, F. G., Chafouleas, S. M., Welsh, M. E., Riley-Tillman, T. C., & Fabiano, G. A. (2019). Examining the stability of social, emotional, and behavioral risk status: Implications for screening frequency. *School Psychology*, *34*(1), 43.
- 62 Bruhn, A. L., Woods-Groves, S., & Huddle, S. (2014). A preliminary investigation of emotional and behavioral screening practices in K–12 schools. *Education and Treatment of Children, 37*(4), 611-634.
- 64 Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act of 1974, 20 U.S.C. § 1232g (1974).
- 65 von der Embse, N. P., Kilgus, S. P., Eklund, K., Ake, E., & Levi-Neilsen, S. (2018). Training teachers to facilitate early identification of mental and behavioral health risks. *School Psychology Review*, *47*(4), 372-384.
- 66 Splett, J. W., Smith-Millman, M., Raborn, A., Warmbold-Brann, K., Maras, M. A. & Flaspohler, P. (2018). Student, teacher and classroom predictors of between-teacher variance of students' teacher-rated behavior. *School Psychology Quarterly*, *33*(3), 460-468.
- 67 Kilgus, S. P., & Eklund, K. R. (2016, March). Consideration of base rates within universal screening for behavioral and emotional risk: A novel procedural framework. *In School Psychology Forum* (Vol. 10, No. 1).
- 68 von der Embse, N.P., Pendergast, L., Kilgus, S. P., & Eklund, K. (2016). Evaluating the applied use of a mental health screener: Structural validity of the Social, Academic, and Emotional Behavior Risk Screener (SAEBRS). *Psychological Assessment, 28* (10), 1265-1275.
- 69 Smith, S. R. (2007). Making sense of multiple informants in child and adolescent psychopathology: A guide for clinicians. *Journal of Psychoeducational Assessment*, *25*, 139 –149.
- 70 Pastor, P. N., & Reuben, C. A. (2009). Emotional/behavioral difficulties and mental health service contacts of students in special education for non—mental health problems. *Journal of School Health*, 79(2), 82-89.
- 71 von der Embse, N., Kim, E., Kilgus, S., Dedrick, R., & Sanchez, A. (2019). Multi-informant universal screening: Evaluation of rater, item, and construct variance with a trifactor model. *Journal of School Psychology*.
- 72 von der Embse, N.P., Rutherford, L., Mankin, A., & Jenkins, A.

#### V. CONCLUSION

- (2019). Implementation of a trauma-informed assessment to intervention model in a large urban school district. School Mental Health, 11, 276-279.
- 73 Glover, T. A., & Albers, C. A. (2007). Considerations for evaluating universal screening assessments. *Journal of School Psychology*, 45(2), 117-135.
- 74 Eklund, K., Kilgus, S., von der Embse, N.P., Beardmore, M., & Tanner, N. (2017). Use of universal screening scores to predict distal academic and behavioral outcomes: A multi-level approach. *Psychological Assessment*, 29 (5), 486-499.
- 75 Hintze, J. M., & Silberglitt, B. (2005). A longitudinal examination of the diagnostic accuracy and predictive validity of R-CBM and high-stakes testing. *School Psychology Review*, *34*, 372–386.
- 76 Pendergast, L., von der Embse, N. P., Kilgus, S. P., & Eklund, K. (2017). Measurement equivalence in school psychology research: A primer and illustrated example of multi-group confirmatory factor analysis for non-statisticians. *Journal of School Psychology*, *60*, 65-82.
- 77 Girvan, E. J., McIntosh, K., & Smolkowski, K. (2019). Tail, tusk, and trunk: What different metrics reveal about racial disproportionality in school discipline. *Educational Psychologist*, *54*(1), 40-59.
- 78 Severson, H. H., Walker, H. M., Hope-Doolittle, J., Kratochwill, T. R., & Gresham, F. M. (2007). Proactive, early screening to detect behaviorally at-risk students: Issues, approaches, emerging innovations, and professional practices. *Journal of School Psychology*, *45*(2), 193-223.
- 79 von der Embse, N. P., Kilgus, S. P., Eklund, K., Ake, E., & Levi-Neilsen, S. (2018). Training teachers to facilitate early identification of mental and behavioral health risks. *School Psychology Review*, *47*(4), 372-384.
- 80 Pendergast, L., von der Embse, N. P., Kilgus, S. P., & Eklund, K. (2017). Measurement equivalence in school psychology research: A primer and illustrated example of multi-group confirmatory factor analysis for non-statisticians. *Journal of School Psychology*, *60*, 65-82.
- 81 DiPerna, J. C. (2006). Academic enablers and student achievement: Implications for assessment and intervention services in the schools. *Psychology in the Schools*, *43*(1), 7-17.
- 82 Shinn, M. R., & Walker, H. M. (Eds.). (2010). *Interventions for achievement and behavior problems in a three-tier model including RTI*. National Association of School Psychologists.
- 83 Klingbeil, D. A., Van Norman, E. R., Nelson, P. M., & Birr, C. (2019). Interval likelihood ratios: applications for gated screening in schools. *Journal of school psychology*, *76*, 107-123.

- 84 Bruhn, A. L., Woods-Groves, S., & Huddle, S. (2014). A preliminary investigation of emotional and behavioral screening practices in K–12 schools. *Education and Treatment of Children*, *37*(4), 611-634.
- 86 Chafouleas, S. M., Kilgus, S. P., & Wallach, N. (2010). Ethical dilemmas in school-based behavioral screening. *Assessment for Effective Interventions*, *35*, 245-252.
- 87 Eklund K., Meyer L., Splett J., Weist M. (2020) Policies and Practices to Support School Mental Health. In: Levin B., Hanson A. (eds) Foundations of Behavioral Health. Springer.
- 88 Protection of Pupil Rights Act, 20 U.S.C. § 123h (2016).
- 89 Miller, D. N., & Eckert, T. L. (2009). Youth Suicidal Behavior: An Introduction and Overview. *School Psychology Review*, *38*(2).
- 90 Splett, J. W., Trainor, K., Raborn, A., Halliday-Boykins, C., Dongo, M., Garzona, M., & Weist, M. D. (2018). Comparison of universal mental health screening to students already receiving intervention in a multitiered system of support. *Behavioral Disorders*, *43*(8), 344-356.
- 91 Briesch, A. M., Chafouleas, S. M., & Chaffee, R. K. (2018). Analysis of State-level guidance regarding school-based, universal screening for social, emotional, and behavioral risk. *School Mental Health*, *10*, 147-162.
- 92 Auerbach, E. R., Chafouleas, S.M. & Briesch, A. M. (2019). State-level guidance on school-based screening for social, emotional, and behavioral risk: A follow-up study. *School Mental Health*, *11*, 141-147.
- 93 General Education Intervention Procedures, Evaluation, Determination of Eligibility, Reevaluation and the Provision of Exceptional Student Education Services, Florida Department of Education Rule 6A-6.0331 (2014).
- 94 Florida's Multi-Tiered Systems of Supports. Retrieved from http://www.florida-rti.org
- 95 The 2019 Florida Statutes, Section 1011.62.











